
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

May 18, 2021  5:30 pm 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Venus Mack 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 
 
a) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing May 16-22, 2020 as National Public 

Works Week. 
b) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing May 12-18, 2021 as National Police 

Week.  
c) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing May 18, 2021 as CASA Volunteer Day.  
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 04-27-2021 Budget Work Session Minutes 
b) 05-04-2021 Council minutes 
c) 05-04-2021 Executive Session Minutes 

 
6. Public Hearing to solicit input on the proposed FY 2022 Budget for the City of 

Statesboro.  
 

7. Second reading and consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2021-02: an 
ordinance amending the Statesboro Code of Ordinances Chapter 6, Sections 6-5(0) and 6-
7(e) extending eligibility for distance waiver permits to pubs and low volume licensees. 
 

8. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 
Sec. 6-5: 
     
     Sai 218 Inc DBA Sym Food Store 
     218 N Main St 
     Statesboro, Ga 30458 
     Owner: Radhika Amin 

 
9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: Application RZ 21-03-04: 

Valnoc, LLC & PDC Statesboro LLC requests a zoning map amendment from the R-4 
(High-Density Residential) zoning district to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) 
zoning district on 64.93 acres of undeveloped property in order to construct 209 attached 
single-family dwellings and 30 detached single-family dwellings on Cawana Road. 



 
 

 
10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: Application RZ 21-04-01:  

Southern Coastal Investment Properties, LLC requests a zoning map amendment from the 
R-20 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the R-4 (High Density Residential) 
zoning district, in order to construct 18 single story townhomes at 10 Briarwood Court. 
 

11. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: Application RZ 21-04-02: 
Jessica Hermmann requests a zoning map amendment from the R-15 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district to the O (Office) zoning district, in order to open a real estate 
office on the site located at 110 South Zetterower Avenue. 
 

12. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: Application SE 21-04-03: 
Jamie Lynn Stowbridge requests a special exception to locate a trailer on a 0.3 acre 
property located in the R-10 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district on a property 
located on Lewis Street. 
 

13. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve:  
 
A) Application AN 21-04-04: Adams Property Group requests an Annexation by the 

100% method of 8.72 acres of vacant land for the purposes of constructing a self-
storage mini warehouse facility on Veterans Memorial Parkway. 

B) Application RZ 21-04-05: Adams Property Group, LLC requests a zoning map 
amendment from the R-40 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the CR 
(Commercial Retail) zoning district to allow for the construction of a self-storage 
mini warehouse facility on Veterans Memorial Parkway. 

 
14. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2021-019: A Resolution amending the 

job position classification and compensation plan to reclassify one Code Compliance 
Officer Position to Senior Code Compliance Officer.  

 
15. Consideration of a motion to approve change orders #7, 8, 10, 11, 13, 14, and 15 with 

John Lavender & Associates, Inc. in the not to exceed amount of $107,136.00 for the 
Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park improvements project and authorize the Mayor 
to execute contract document amendments. 

 
16. Consideration of a motion to purchase a new mini skid steer with attachments for the 

Public Works and Engineering Department in the amount of $39,431.00 from Vermeer 
Southeast using Sourcewell Member #33094, Contract #062117-VRM. 

 
17. Consideration of a motion to approve a joint resolution with Bulloch County to authorize 

payment of proceeds from 2019 SPLOST to the City of Statesboro in the amount of 
480,331.73.  
 
 
 



 
 

18. Consideration of a motion to approve a Memorandum of Agreement with GDOT for 
roadway and pedestrian crosswalk maintenance on State Route 73 (South Main Street) 
between Tillman Road and State Route 67 (Fair Road) for the Blue Mile Streetscape 
project.   
 

19. Other Business from City Council 
 
20.  City Managers Comments 
 
21. Public Comments (General) 

 
A) Annie Bellinger to address conflicts on the Westside.  
 

22. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

23. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 

city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA  
  

NATIONAL PUBLIC WORKS WEEK PROCLAMATION 
May 17 – 23, 2020 

 

“Stronger Together” 

WHEREAS, public works professionals focus on infrastructure, facilities and services that are of vital 
importance to sustainable and resilient communities and to the public health, high quality 
of life and well-being of the people of the City of Statesboro; and, 

WHEREAS, these infrastructure, facilities and services could not be provided without the dedicated 
efforts of public works professionals, who are engineers, managers and employees at all 
levels of government and the private sector, who are responsible for rebuilding, improving 
and protecting our nation’s transportation, water supply, water treatment and solid waste 
systems, public buildings, and other structures and facilities essential for our citizens; and, 

WHEREAS, it is in the public interest for the citizens, civic leaders and children in the City of Statesboro 
to gain knowledge of and to maintain a progressive interest and understanding of the 
importance of public works and public works programs in their respective communities; 
and, 

WHEREAS, the year 2021 marks the 61st annual National Public Works Week sponsored by the 
American Public Works Association/Canadian Public Works Association be it now, 

RESOLVED,  I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the City of Statesboro, do hereby designate the week May 
16 – 22, 2021 as National Public Works Week; I urge all citizens to join with 
representatives of the American Public Works Association/Canadian Public Works 
Association and government agencies in activities, events and ceremonies designed to pay 
tribute to our public works professionals, engineers, managers and employees and to 
recognize the substantial contributions they make to protecting our national health, safety, 
and quality of life. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused to be affixed the Seal of the City of 
Statesboro on this 18th day of May, 2021. 

 

 
___________________________ 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
    
 
  



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 

city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA  
 

2021 NATIONAL POLICE WEEK 
 
 
WHEREAS,  in 1962, President John F. Kennedy signed a proclamation which designated May 

15th as Peace Officer’s Memorial Day and the week in which that date falls as Police 
Week; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the officers and staff of the Statesboro Police Department play an essential role in 

protecting the freedoms and safeguarding the rights of the citizens of our 
community; and 

 
WHEREAS,  there are nearly 60,000 assaults on law enforcement officers across the United 

States each year, resulting in approximately 16,000 injuries; and 
 
WHEREAS,  more than 20,000 law enforcement officers in the United States have died in the 

line of duty since the first recorded death in 1791; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the names of 362 officers who died in the line of duty in 2020 are being added to 

the National Law Enforcement Officer’s memorial this spring; and 
 
WHEREAS,  it is important to recognize the partnership that exists between the police and their 

community in order to ensure a high quality of life for all citizens, 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, I Jonathan McCollar, Honorable Mayor of Statesboro, Georgia, do hereby 
proclaim the week of May 12 through May 18, 2021 as Police Week in the City of Statesboro, and 
therefore extend appreciation to the members of the Statesboro Police Department for their 
dedicated work alongside our community, and call upon all citizens to take  a moment to consider 
the responsibilities we place upon the shoulders of our law enforcement officers, and to reflect on 
those officers in our nation who have died in the line of duty.  
 
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I, Jonathan McCollar, Honorable Mayor of the City of Statesboro,  
Georgia, hereunto set my hand and caused the seal of the City of Statesboro to be affixed this 18th 
day of May, 2021. 
 

 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 

city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA  
 

CASA VOLUNTEER DAY 
 
 
WHEREAS,  the City of Statesboro recognizes the problem of child abuse and neglected and is 

committed to helping its victims; and 
 
WHEREAS,  Court Appointed Special Advocates (CASA) Ogeechee recruits, trains, supports 

and supervises community volunteers as advocates for children who have been 
removed from their home due to neglect or abuse in the counties of Bulloch, 
Screven, Jenkins and Effingham; and 

 
WHEREAS,  CASA Volunteers ensure children’s best interest remain the priority while working 

toward establishing a safe, stable and permanent home for each child served, and   
 
WHEREAS,  CASA has a record of public service protecting the safety and well-being of 

Ogeechee Judicial Circuit’s foster children, defending them from harm and 
ensuring they are provided with the court-order services they need; and  

  
WHEREAS,  CASA establishes and maintains effective relationships with the Juvenile court, 

Department of Child and Family Services (DFCS) and other child serving 
agencies/institutions in order to create a cooperative environment in which to best 
meet the needs of children, 

 
WHEREAS,  National CASA/GAL Association and FosterStrong are working with members of 

Congress to recognize CASA Volunteer Day nationwide. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, I Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the City of Statesboro do hereby proclaim  
 

                                  May 18, 2021 as CASA Volunteer Day 
  

in Statesboro and urge all residents to become aware of the work and mission of CASA Ogeechee. 
Let it be known that the City of Statesboro supports the education efforts to raise awareness of the  
CASA program at the local level and the need for community members to provide a voice for the  
children in foster care. 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have here unto set my hand this 18th day of May in the year 2021. 
 

 
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 



 
 

1 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MINUTES 

April 27, 2021 

A work session of the Statesboro City Council was held on April 27, 2021 at 2:00 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jonathan McCollar, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Paulette Chavers, John Riggs, and Shari Barr. Also present was City Clerk Leah Harden, 
City Attorney Cain Smith, City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, 
Finance Director Cindy West and Public Information Officer Layne Phillips. Councilmember 
Venus Mack was absent. 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order.  
 
Review of the Proposed City of Statesboro Fiscal Year 2022 Operating Budget. 
City Manager Charles Penny presented the proposed FY 2022 annual operating budget. He 
reviewed budget objectives, which includes tax base growth, emphasis on redevelopment and 
clean up, and retaining and recruiting talented employees. The challenges and unknowns include 
the American Rescue Pan and that 4% of the property in the City limits is non-taxable, which 
makes up 23% of the assessed value for real and personal property. The Fiscal Year 2022 
proposed budget highlights include a 1.05% increase from FY 2021 amended budget and a 
3.49% increase in the General Fund. Another highlight is no proposed rate increases, and no 
proposed property tax increases.   
Mr. Penny continued with the compensation and benefits review, which includes a 3% pay plan 
adjustment, pay for performance, and a proposal of no increase in employee premiums. Items not 
funded for FY 2022 are eight new police officers and equipment. We would have to increase 
millage rate to fund these new positions and right now, it is hard to find eligible employees to be 
police officers. However, Chief Broadhead has authorization to hire three more officers if all 
vacant positions are filled and he has a full staff of the approved 77.  
Mr. Penny reviewed the proposed appropriation levels on operating funds that shows a 2.6% 
increase. A review FY 2022 proposed property tax rates between the Board of Education, 
Bulloch County and the City of Statesboro and of the three, the City has the lowest rate.  
Mr. Penny reviewed revenue trends and current and future challenges such as promoting regional 
identity, keeping the pay plan up to date, advancing a creative, inclusive, professional culture and 
growing our Central City. Mr. Penny stated to balance our budget for this fiscal year we will 
continue the conditional hiring freeze for non-public safety positions, “hold line” on operating 
cost and keeping capital outlay/CIP within planned limits.  
The General fund highlights review includes neighborhood revitalization, Public Safety, 
Statesboro Fire Service fund, General Capital Fund, Water & Sewer Fund, Storm Water Fund, 
Natural Gas Fund, Solid Waste Collection Fund, Solid Waste Disposal Fund, and Fleet 
Maintenance Fund.  
There was a ten-minute recess at 3:39 pm. 
The work session reconvened at 3:49 pm. 



 
 

2 
 

Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles reviewed with Mayor and City Council the proposed FY 
2022 revenues and expenditures of the General Fund. He also went over the FY 2022 budget 
assumptions.  
No action taken. 
The meeting was adjourned at 4:39 pm 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
____________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk  
 

 
 

 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

MAY 4, 2021 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      9:00 AM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Mayor Pro Tem Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present   
Shari Barr Councilmember Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information 
Officer Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: 

A) Presentation of a Proclamation for International Firefighters Day. 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar read and presented a proclamation to Fire Chief Tim Grams of the Statesboro Fire 
Department for International Firefighters Day. 
 
Mayor McCollar stated there is an addition to the agenda for another Proclamation for Municipal Clerks Week. 
Mayor McCollar read the proclamation and presented it to City Clerk Leah Harden.  
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 04-20-2021 Work Session Minutes 
b) 04-20-2021 Council Minutes 
c) 04-20-2021 Executive Session Minutes 
 

A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 



2 
 

 
  SECONDER: 

 
  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve:  
 

A) APPLICATION RZ 21-03-05: Stockyard Housing LLP, requests a Zoning Map Amendment 
from the R-15 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the R-4 (High-Density 
Residential) zoning district on 4.51 +/- acres of property in order to redevelop and construct 
a multi-tenant senior housing development at Stockyard & Donnie Simmons Road (Tax 
Parcel #MS38 000056 000). 

B) APPLICATION V 21-03-06: Stockyard Housing LLP, requests a variance from Article XVI: 
Section 1600 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding off-street parking for multiple-
family use buildings for a proposed senior housing development at Stockyard & Donnie 
Simmons Road (Tax Parcel # MS38 000056 000). 

 
 
A Motion was made to open the Public Hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A Motion was made to close the Public Hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated this will put lots of traffic on Donnie Simmons Way and wanted to make 
sure Paulette Chavers was ok with this since it is in her district.  
Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers thanked Phil for his question and stated it may be a small challenge but it’s 
worth it to have more senior housing in Statesboro.  
Councilmember Shari Barr stated she agrees with Mayor Pro Tem Chavers about the need for this kind of 
housing.  

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

3 
 

 
 
 
A Motion was made to approve Application RZ 21-06-05 and Application V 21-03-06. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

7. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2021-02: An Ordinance amending the Statesboro 
Code of Ordinances Chapter 6 Sections 6-5 (o) and 6-7 (e) extending eligibility for distance 
waivers to pubs and low volume licensees. 

 
 
A motion was made to open the Public Hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
City Attorney Cain Smith explained that currently we do allow for proximity waivers for restaurants. Which 
is proximity from certain businesses set out in Section 6-7 (e). The proposed amendment would extend 
eligibility for distance waivers to pubs and low volume licensees.  
 
Marcus Toole spoke in favor of the request.  
No one spoke against the request. 
 
A Motion was made to close the Public Hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



4 
 

Councilmember Shari Barr asked if in the process of obtaining a waiver permit would a sign be posted on the 
business so people around them would know.  
City Attorney Cain Smith stated no, there would be no public posting of the request for a distance waiver. It 
would solely be brought before Mayor and Council after investigation by City Staff.   
Councilmember John Riggs asked if the distance waiver incudes churches. 
City Attorney Cain Smith stated all forbidden businesses are listed in Section 6-7 (e) (1) and churches are part 
of that as well.  
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated this gives flexibility and opportunities for business to approach us as well 
as the folks who may be affected by those businesses.  
 
A Motion was made to approve the first reading of Ordinance 2021-02. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to set the date for a Public Hearing for the proposed City of Statesboro 
Fiscal Year 2022 Budget for May 18, 2021, during the regular scheduled Council Meeting. 

 
A motion was made to set the date for a Public Hearing for the proposed City of Statesboro Fiscal Year 2022 
Budget for May 18, 2021, during the regular scheduled Council Meeting.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to SAK Construction LLC in the amount of 
$788,770.00 to rehabilitate sanitary sewer mains. This project is funded as part of the 2021 CIP 
Budget Item #WWD14-L with funds from the 2013 SPLOST. 

 
A motion was made to award a contract to SAK Construction LLC in the amount of $788,770.00 to rehabilitate 
sanitary sewer mains.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chaves 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chaves 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chaves 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

5 
 

 
  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

10. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to McLendon Enterprises, Inc. in the amount of 
$975,150.90 for the 2019 Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) infrastructure and 
drainage improvement project.   The project is funded from CDBG (grant) funds, 2013 SPLOST 
funds, and utility enterprise funds. 

 
 
A motion was made to award a contract to McLendon Enterprises, Inc. in the amount of $975,150.90 for the 2019 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) infrastructure and drainage improvement project.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

11. Other Business from City Council:  
Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chaves stated that last September Council passed the Non Discrimination ordinance 
and that it has come to her attention a lot of individuals do not know the process of how to file a complaint.  
Mayor Pro Tem Chavers explained the process of how to file a complaint. You go to 
www.statesboroga.gov/boards-commissions, and scroll down to the non-discrimination complaint form, print 
the form, fill it out and turn it into the City Clerk’s office at City Hall, by hand delivery, mail, fax, or email. If 
you do not know how to complete the form, Statesboro City Clerk Leah Harden is available to assist with the 
completion of the form.    
 
Councilmember John Riggs announced that after much consideration he has decided not to run for a fourth 
term as representative for District 4 on Statesboro City Council. He stated it has been my privilege and honor 
to serve.  
 
Mayor McCollar stated John we are going to miss you.  Thank you for everything you’ve done, thank you for 
having such a gentle heart.    
 
Mayor McCollar deferred to City Manager Charles Penny. Mr. Penny stated he was going to introduce the 
developer of the Senior Housing Project Bill Gross to Mayor and Council; however, he was unable to make it 
today.  Mr. Gross did say he could come to the next meeting to meet with Mayor and Council. 
 
Mayor McCollar stated that staff has been remarkable with not only this project but also the entire housing 
initiative.  
 

12. City Managers Comments 
 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/boards-commissions


6 
 

City Manager Charles Penny stated the Youth Connect applications are flowing in and today is the deadline.  
We will start the process for choosing twenty young people who will work with the City and other entities for 
the next five weeks beginning on June 7th.   
 

13. Public Comments (General): None 
 
 

14. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Potential Litigation” in 
accordance with O.C.G.A. 50-14-3(b). 

 
At 9:41 am a motion was made to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matter” Real Estate” and 
“Potential Litigation in accordance with O.C.G.A. 50-14-3(b) 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
At 10:03 am a motion was made to exit Executive Session. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the regular meeting back to order. In Executive Session Council made the decision to 
appoint Sam DeRocco as the Assistant Prosecuting Attorney for the City of Statesboro. 
 
A motion was made to appoint Sam DeRocco as the Assistant Prosecuting Attorney for the City of Statesboro.  
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

7 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:04 am. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack   



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: May 5 2021 
 
RE: May 18, 2021 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Second reading and consideration of proposed amendment to the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances Chapter 6, Sections 6-5(0) and 6-7(e) extending 
eligibility for distance waiver permits to pubs and low volume licensees.  
 
Recommendation: N/A 
 
Background: O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21(b)(3)allows local jurisdictions to regulate 
distance requirements for on premises alcohol sales. Currently distance waiver 
permits may only be applied for by licensees operating as restaurants. Mayor 
and Council directed drafting of revision at April 20, 2021 work session. First 
reading was held May 4, 2021 where Council voted 5-0 to advance to second 
reading. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed redlined amended versions of Section 6-5(o) and 6-7(e) 



Ordinance 2021-02: 

Section 6-5(o) 

Application for distance waiver permit for restaurant. The mayor and city council, following application 
for a distance waiver permit for a restaurant, notice and hearing, may in its discretion grant a distance 
waiver permit for restaurant authorizing the issuance of an On Premises license to a licensee of a 
restaurant, pub, or low volume notwithstanding the distance requirements in subsection 6-7(e) from 
school buildings, alcohol treatment centers, educational buildings on college campus, churches and/or 
property lines of a private dwelling located in single-family residential zoning district for locations that 
sell alcohol for consumption on the premises only. The application for a distance waiver permit shall be 
obtained as provided in the rules and regulations of the administration of this chapter. 

Section 6-7(e) 

Proximity requirements; sales for consumption on the premises; local regulation permitted per O.C.G.A. § 
3-3-21(b)(3). 

(1) 

On Premises alcoholic beverage licenses shall not be issued for a location without a certificate from a 
land surveyor, registered in the State of Georgia, showing a scaled drawing of the location of the 
proposed premises and the shortest straight line distance from the front door/primary entrance to any 
church building, school building, educational building, school grounds, college building, or college 
campus located within a radius of 100 yards of the premises. 

(2) 

No licenses shall be issued under this chapter for any location without a certificate from a land surveyor, 
registered in the State of Georgia, showing a scaled drawing of the location of the proposed premises 
and the shortest straight line distance from the front door/primary entrance to any alcoholic treatment 
center building located within a radius of 100 yards of the premises. 

(3) 

The proximity requirements for On Premises licenses shall be in effect for all districts in which such 
licenses are authorized, with the exception of any restaurant, pub, or low volume as defined in this 
chapter that is granted a distance waiver permit for a restaurant by the mayor and city council pursuant 
to section 6-5(o). 

 



































































































































































 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

                         Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
   
 
  
 
 
    
 
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
   Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:  John Washington, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  May 5, 2021 
 
RE:  Contract Award - Mini Skid Steer with Attachments per Sourcewell Cooperative 
 
Policy Issue:  Purchasing Policy  
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends and requests the consideration of a motion to purchase a new Mini Skid Steer with 
attachments for the Public Works Parks Division in the amount of up to $39,431.00 from Vermeer 
Southeast using Sourcewell Member #33094, Contract #062117-VRM with funds from 2019 SPLOST 
Fund. The equipment is listed as FY2021 CIP Budget item #PRK-34. 
 
Background:   
This will be a purchase of a new Vermeer S925TX-7D Mini Skid Steer with the following attachments: 42” 
smooth bucket, 18” Auger bit, 36” Trencher and 48” Debris Grapple. The Mini skid steer with 
attachments will be used for maintenance activities in public roads and City Parks. This smaller machine 
is essential with less of a footprint in these landscaped areas listed above. The attachments will reduce 
the need to purchase several individual machines.  No local vendors provide this product. 
 
Budget Impact:   
None 

Council Person and District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachments: 
Contract Specification Sheet 
 











 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: May 5 2021 
 
RE: May 18, 2021 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of a joint resolution with Bulloch County to authorize 
payment of proceeds from 2019 SPLOST to the City of Statesboro in the amount 
of 480,331.73.  
 
Recommendation: Approve 
 
Background: Bulloch County and City of Statesboro entered into SPLOST IGA 
July 31, 2018. Portion of SPLOST funds was to be used to establish countywide P-
25 radio system and provide compatible radios to local jurisdictions. City had 
already purchased P-25 radios from non-SPLOST proceeds. Purpose of joint 
resolution is to essentially reimburse City for not receiving this SPLOST benefit. 
Received funds will be deposited in City general fund and shall not be restricted 
to SPLOST purposes. 
 
Budget Impact: $480,331.73 deposited in general fund  
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed joint resolution 



A JOINT RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF BULLOCH COUNTY, GEORGIA AND THE 
MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA TO AUTHORIZE THE PAYMENT OF 
PROCEEDS FROM THE 2019 SPECIAL PURPOSE LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX FROM BULLOCH COUNTY TO 
THE CITY OF STATESBORO AS CONTEMPLATED IN THAT CERTAIN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE PARTIES DATED JULY 31, 2018; TO DESIGNATE THE APPLICATION OF AND ACCOUNTING 
FOR SAID PROCEEDS; TO ESTABLISH AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 
 WHEREAS, on November 6, 2018 an election was held on a referendum to continue the imposition 
of a one percent special purpose local option sales tax in Bulloch County, Georgia, and a majority of the 
qualified voters voting in said election approved the continuation of the one percent special purpose local 
option sales tax (hereinafter referred to as the “2019 SPLOST”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the referendum approving the 2019 SPLOST also included approval for the issuance of 
general obligation debt by Bulloch County, a portion of which was to be used to pay for a new P25-
compliant radio system, including the purchase of new radios, for use by law enforcement and public 
safety agencies in Bulloch County and its municipalities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro decided to purchase its new radios with other funds, and thus 
none of the proceeds from the issuance of the debt were used to purchase radios for the City of 
Statesboro; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Bulloch County and its municipalities entered into an intergovernmental agreement 
dated July 31, 2018 governing disbursements, expenditures, and other matters related to the 2019 SPLOST 
(hereinafter referred to as the “IGA”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in order to assure that the City of Statesboro received its pro rata share of 2019 SPLOST 
proceeds, the IGA provides that Bulloch County will reallocate a portion of its 2019 SPLOST proceeds to 
the City of Statesboro in an amount equal to 42.3% of the cost of radios purchased by Bulloch County with 
the proceeds of the debt; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the cost of the radios purchased by Bulloch County with the proceeds of the debt is 
$1,135,536.00, and 42.3% of that amount is $480,331.73; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the IGA further provides that the City of Statesboro will use the reallocation of 2019 
SPLOST proceeds for its SPLOST projects, and that the IGA will be amended to accomplish the reallocation 
and adjust the estimated amounts of County and Statesboro projects accordingly; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Bulloch County, Georgia and the Mayor and Council of 
the City of Statesboro, Georgia have determined that, for purposes of facilitating the administration of 
and accounting for 2019 SPLOST proceeds, it would be preferable for Bulloch County to pay $480,331.73 
of its 2019 SPLOST proceeds directly to the City of Statesboro without adjusting the disbursement 
percentages and SPLOST project estimates as set forth in the IGA;  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT JOINTLY RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Bulloch County, 
Georgia and the Mayor and Council of Statesboro, Georgia, and IT IS HEREBY JOINTLY RESOLVED by the 
authority of same, as follows: 
 



 Section 1.  Bulloch County will pay $480,331.73 of its 2019 SPLOST proceeds to the City of 
Statesboro and charge said payment to Bulloch County’s 2019 SPLOST project listed as “public safety 
facilities and/or equipment.” 
 
 Section 2.  The City of Statesboro will deposit said payment of $480,331.73 into its general fund 
as unrestricted revenue. 
 
 Section 3.  Both parties agree that this will satisfy the provisions of Section 6.F. of the IGA. 
 

Section 4.  All resolutions, ordinances, or parts thereof previously approved and adopted by either 
the Board of Commissioners of Bulloch County, Georgia or the Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia that are in conflict with the provisions contained in this resolution are, to the extent of such 
conflict, hereby superseded and repealed. 

 Section 5.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.  

 RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of May, 2021. 
 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF     MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
BULLOCH COUNTY, GEORGIA     OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
By:_______________________________   By:______________________________ 
     Roy Thompson, Chairman          Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
 
Attest:____________________________   Attest:___________________________ 
            Olympia Gaines, Clerk                 Leah Harden, Clerk 
 
                      (SEAL)                (SEAL) 
 
             
 
 
  
  



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
 
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 

Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:  John Washington, Director – Public Works and Engineering 
     
Date:  May 12, 2021 
 
RE: GDOT Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) for Roadway and Pedestrian 
 Crosswalk Maintenance on State Route 73 (Fair Road) for the 

Blue Mile Streetscape Project 
 
Policy Issue:  Intergovernmental Agreement 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends approval of the referenced Memorandum of Agreement with GDOT. 
 
Background:  
The South Main Street Streetscape project proposes to install decorative concrete crosswalks across SR 
73/US 301 at Tillman Street.  GDOT will not allow decorative concrete crosswalks unless the local 
government agrees to be responsible for repair, replacement, and liability of these crosswalks.  In addition 
the city proposes to install black coated pedestrian signal poles and bases that conform to the pedestrian 
poles already installed along this corridor.  GDOT will only allow standard aluminum finish poles and bases 
unless the local government agrees to be responsible for supplying replacement poles and bases as 
needed due for repair or replacement. 
 
Budget Impact:   
Maintenance expenditures will be paid by TSPLOST funds. 

 
Council Person and District: 
District 2, Councilmembers Paulette Chavers  
District 3, Councilmember Venus Mack 
 
Attachment:  
MOA 



1 of 5  

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

FOR 

ROADWAY & PEDESTRIAN CROSSWALKS MAINTENANCE ON STATE ROUTE 73 
BETWEEN TILLMAN ROAD AND INTERSECTION WITH STATE ROUTE 67, CITY 
OF STATESBORO, GA, 

BULLOCH COUNTY 

CONSISTING OF 

 
The City does not want the decorative concrete crosswalks as shown 
on construction drawings for the Blue Mile Streetscape 
Improvements, Phase 1, painted with pattern lines in accordance 
with GDOT Stripping Details T-11A along STATE ROUTE 73 from the 
intersection of Tillman Road and to the intersection of State Route 
67, City of Statesboro, GA., Bulloch County. 
 

BETWEEN 
 

The City of Statesboro, acting by and through its City Council, 

hereinafter called the CITY, and the Department of Transportation, an 

agency of the State of Georgia, hereinafter called the DEPARTMENT. 

 
 

RELATIVE TO 
 

The CITY is requesting to install decorative concrete crosswalks not 

painted with pattern lines in accordance with GDOT Striping Details T-11A 

and by Permit No. A-031-005873-5 Bulloch County.  In addition the city 

requests to install black coated pedestrian pedestal poles and bases in 

accordance with GDOT detail TS-04A Traffic Signal Support Structures from 

the intersection of Tillman Road and to the intersection of State Route 

67, City of Statesboro, GA.,. 

 
 

I. IT IS THE INTENTION OF THE PARTIES: 
 

A. That the CITY, only to the extent that it may be bound by 



2 of 5  

contracts that may hereafter be entered into, shall be responsible for 

the following: 

 
 

1. The CITY shall assume responsibility and maintenance of these crosswalks 

by Permit No A-031-005873-5 from the intersection of Tillman Road and to 

the intersection of State Route 67, City of Statesboro, GA., Bulloch 

County.  The CITY shall also assume responsibility for providing 

replacement black coated poles and bases as needed for repair and 

maintenance. 

 
 

2. The CITY, in its operation and maintenance of the sidewalk 

crosswalks, shall not in any way alter the type or location of any of the 

various components that make up the sidewalk or crosswalks without prior 

written approval from the DEPARTMENT.  The CITY will not in any way alter 

the type or location or the components that make up the pedestrian signal. 

3. The CITY shall at all times indemnify and save harmless the 

DEPARTMENT and the State of Georgia, to the extent allowed by law, from 

any and all responsibility for damages or liability, or both, which may 

result from the installation, construction, reconstruction, operation, 

maintenance or repair, or any combination of any of the foregoing. 

 
 
II. IT IS FURTHER AGREED, that the DEPARTMENT, only to the extent that 

it may be bound by contracts which may hereafter be entered into, shall 

reserve the right to remove the aforementioned crosswalks in the event 

that the CITY fails to properly maintain any location. In addition the 

DEPARTMENT reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to remove or 

replace any crosswalks where the public 



3 of 5  

safety is at any time compromised by the actions or inactions of the CITY.  

IT IS FURTHER AGREED, that the DEPARTMENT, only to the extent that it may 

be bound by contracts which may hereafter be entered into, shall reserve 

the right to replace the aforementioned black coated pedestrian signal 

poles in the event that the CITY fails to properly provide replacement 

poles as needed. 

 
 

III. IT IS FURTHER AGREED, that this Agreement shall remain in effect for 

a period of fifty (50) years. 

 
 
IV. IT IS FURTHER AGREED, the covenants herein contained shall, except as 

otherwise provided accrue to the benefit of and be binding upon the 

successors and assigns of the parties hereto. 

 
 

This document is a Memorandum of Agreement expressing the present 

intentions of the parties. Nothing contained herein shall require the 

undertaking of any act, project, study, analysis, or any other activity 

by any party until a contract for such activity is executed. Nor shall 

this document require the expenditure of any funds by any party until a 

contract authorizing such expenditure is executed. 

However, nothing contained herein shall be construed to prohibit 

any party’s undertaking any act, project, study, analysis, or any other 

activity, which the party is required by law to contract to undertake as 

part of any other program, which fulfills some function shown herein as 

intended to be performed by the party undertaking such act, project, 

study, analysis, or any other activity. 



4 of 5  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this 
Memorandum of Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized 
officials, and their respective seals attached hereto. 
 
 
Signed and delivered  GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
this day of , 
2021, in the presence of:    

STATE TRAFFIC OPERATIONS ENGINEER 
 
 

WITNESS 
 
 
 

REQUESTED BY: CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 

BY:  BY:    
TITLE: WITNESS 

 
 

 (OFFICIAL SEAL-CITY OF STATESBORO, GA.) 
 

BY:   (OFFICIAL SEAL-CITY OF STATESBORO, GA.) 
NOTARY PUBLIC 
My Commission Expires:    

 
 
SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED BEFORE 
ME ON THIS DAY OF , 
2021. 

 
 
This Agreement approved by the Attest: 
City Council at a meeting held 
at on BY:    
the  day of ,2021. City Clerk 



 

 


	05-18-2021 Council Agenda
	Proclamation Public Works Week
	2021 National Police week Proclamation
	CASA Volunteer Day Proclamation
	04-27-2020 council work session minutes - budget Review
	05-04-2021 Council Minutes
	Proximity waiver memo
	Proximity Waiver Revision
	Sym Food Store - Alcohol App and Approvals
	doc02230220210510153735 (1)
	sym food store

	Planning Packet
	Job reclassificaiton
	Change order Lavender and Associates
	Mini Skid Steer Memo 5-5-21
	Mini Skidsteer Quote
	Radio resolution - memo
	Joint Resolution of BOC & Statesboro Implementing Section 6F of IGA.5-18-21
	Blue Mile Streetscape GDOT MOA Memo to CC (1)
	GDOT Crosswalk MOA Blue Mile (1)
	MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT FOR
	BULLOCH COUNTY CONSISTING OF
	The City does not want the decorative concrete crosswalks as shown on construction drawings for the Blue Mile Streetscape Improvements, Phase 1, painted with pattern lines in accordance with GDOT Stripping Details T-11A along STATE ROUTE 73 from the i...
	BETWEEN
	RELATIVE TO
	I. IT IS THE INTENTION OF THE PARTIES:

	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Memorandum of Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized officials, and their respective seals attached hereto.
	STATE TRAFFIC OPERATIONS ENGINEER

	REQUESTED BY: CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA
	BY:  BY:
	BY:   (OFFICIAL SEAL-CITY OF STATESBORO, GA.)
	NOTARY PUBLIC
	SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED BEFORE ME ON THIS DAY OF , 2021.
	at on BY:





